By-Laws of the Utah Division of the International Association for Identification

Article I

Membership

Section 1.01 Application for Active, Life Active, Associate, Life Associate, or Student Membership. Application for Active, Life Active, Associate, Life Associate, or Student Membership shall be made using the most current official Utah Division of the I.A.I. membership application form and the completed form shall be submitted to a member of the Board of Directors, who shall forward it to the Secretary/Treasurer of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. along with the annual dues and assessments established in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws. The procedures for the review and approval or rejection of each membership application shall conform to the provisions of these By-Laws. The Board of Directors is authorized to approve procedures for applying for, and/or designating individuals in other categories of membership not specifically covered in other sections of these By-Laws.

Section 1.02 Standard of Conduct. Members shall conduct themselves in a manner, which creates and maintains respect for the Utah Division, their profession, and the I.A.I. in their professional activities, they should ever be mindful of the high standards of behavior expected of them.

Section 1.03 Active Membership. The active membership of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. shall consist of persons actively engaged in the science of forensic identification, and their Bureau or Department Heads. Active members shall not lose their status because of retirement or change of position, so long as they remain in good standing, and they may hold office. All Active Members shall be entitled to one (1) vote with respect to each matter presented to the membership of

the Utah Division of the I.A.I. for a vote, and shall receive one (1) copy of each of the issues of the Patent Print Newsletter. The annual membership dues for Active Members shall be set according to the provisions of these By-Laws.

Section 1.04 Life Active Membership. Any member in good standing who qualifies as an Active Member as applies to these By-Laws, shall have the option of paying a one time Life Active membership fee, as shall be set according to the provisions of these By-Laws. Additionally, all Active Members who have paid their annual membership dues for the past consecutive twenty-five (25) years shall be automatically designated as Life Active Members. Life Active Members shall be exempt from the payment of any other annual dues. Life Active Members shall be entitled to all the privileges of an Active Member to include voting rights.

Section 1.05 Associate Membership. All reputable persons, fully or partially engaged in any of the various phases of the science of Forensic Identification and Investigation, and who are not qualified for Active Membership, are hereby eligible to become Associate Members. They shall, in all respects, be subject to the same rules, fees and charges and entitled to the same rights and privileges as Active Members, except that they shall not be entitled to election to the Offices of Vice President or President. The annual membership dues for Associate Members shall be set according to the provisions of these By-Laws.

Section 1.06 Life Associate Membership. Any member in good standing who qualifies as an Associate Member as applies to these By-Laws, shall have the option of paying a one time Life Associate membership fee, as shall be set according to the provisions of these By-Laws. Additionally, all Associate Members who have paid their annual membership dues for the past consecutive twenty-five (25) years shall be automatically designated as Life Associate Members. Life Associate Members shall be exempt from the payment of any other annual dues. All privileges and exceptions shall apply to Life Associate Members that apply to Associate Members to include voting rights.

Section 1.07 Student Membership. Student Membership shall consist of all persons

who are full-time college students at an accredited college with a major in a law enforcement and/or forensic science related field. To be considered a full-time student, the individual must not be a member of this Division, and must not be employed by a law enforcement agency. Any individual who is in any type of internship as part of their college course work shall be considered to not be employed by a law enforcement agency for the purposes of this section. Student Members shall not be allowed to hold any office of the Board of Directors. Student Members shall be allowed a vote. The annual membership dues for Student Members shall be set according to the provisions of these By-Laws.

Article II

Educational Conferences and Membership Meetings

Section 2.01 Dates and Place of Educational Conferences. The dates and place of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Educational Conference and any other Special Educational Conferences or Seminars called by the President or the Membership, shall be held during consecutive dates and at a location within or without the State of Utah, as approved by the Board of Directors. The dates and place of any Educational Conference or Seminar shall be included in any required notice of the Educational Conference or Seminar.

Section 2.02 Notice of Educational Conference. The dates and place of all Utah Division of the I.A.I. Educational Conferences and Seminars shall be published in the Patent Print Newsletter at least 30 days prior to each Conference or Seminar.

Section 2.03 General Membership Meeting. The General Membership Meeting of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. shall be held some time during the Utah Division of I.A.I. Educational Conference, except when a Substitute General Meeting

is approved. The purpose of the General Membership Meeting shall be to elect members of the Board of Directors and to transact such other business as may be properly brought before the General Membership Meeting. The President shall be the presiding officer.

Section 2.04 Substitute General Membership Meeting. If the General Membership Meeting of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. cannot be held on the day designated, a Substitute General Membership Meeting shall be designated by the Board of Directors. A meeting so called shall be designated and treated for all such purposes as the General Membership Meeting.

Section 2.05 Special Meetings. Special Meetings may be called at any time by the Board of Directors, in accordance with these By-Laws.

Section 2.06 Notice of Special Meetings. Written or printed notice stating the time, date(s), and location of substitute General Membership Meetings, and all Special Meetings shall be delivered not less than ten (10) days before the date thereof, either personally, by e-mail, or by mail, by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, the President, or other person calling the Meeting, to each member of record who is qualified to vote at the meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited, postage prepaid, in the United States Mail addressed to all members in good standing at their last known mailing address as it appears on the record of members of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Provided however, that any notice of a Special Meeting shall be deemed delivered if printed in any official publication of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. deposited, postage prepaid in the United States mail addressed to all members in good standing at their last known mailing address as it appears on the record of members of the Utah Division of the I.A.I., at least ten (10) days prior to the date of such Meeting. The notice of any Special Meeting shall specifically state the purpose(s) for which the Meeting is called.

voting members who registered to attend the General Membership Meeting. For the purposes of calculating a quorum, when a General Membership Meeting is held in conjunction with the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Educational Conference, all present members in good standing shall be considered to be registered for the General Membership Meeting. If there is no quorum at the opening of a General Membership Meeting, such meeting shall be immediately adjourned without further notice until a quorum is present. At any reconvening of an adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the original meeting. After a quorum has been established at a meeting, the subsequent withdrawal of members so as to reduce the number of members entitled to vote below the number required for a quorum shall not affect the validity of any action taken at the meeting or any reconvening of an adjourned meeting thereof.

Section 2.08 Vote by Membership. Except as required by the International Association for Identification Constitution or By-Laws, and the Utah Division of the I.A.I Constitution or By-Laws, the vote of a simple majority of the members in good standing at a General Membership Meeting shall constitute the final decision of the Utah Division of the I.A.I.

Section 2.09 Parliamentary Rules. All Utah Division of the I.A.I. membership meetings shall be governed by Robert's Rules Of Order: Newly Revised, as such rules may be revised from time to time, insofar as such rules are not inconsistent with or in conflict with the provisions of law, the International Association for Identification Constitution or By-Laws, or the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution or By-Laws.

Section 2.10 Education Conference Registration of Board Members. All members of the Board in good standing, who attend any division educational conference, shall have their registration fees waived for that conference. Any other costs incurred other than registration will need to be paid by the board member.

Article III

Authority, Powers, And Duties Of The Board Of Directors

Section 3.01 General Powers as Policy Making Body. Subject only to the limitations of the International Association for Identification Constitution and By-Laws, and the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution and By-Laws, all policy making powers shall be exercised by and under the authority of the Board of Directors including the employment of administrative personnel and/or appointed Officer(s). Also, the Board of Directors shall act as an advisory committee to the President.

Section 3.02 Approval of Seminars and Meetings. The Board of Directors shall have the final approval on the location, dates and programs for all seminars, educational conferences and meetings to include the General Membership Meeting, but excluding only committee and subcommittee meetings.

Section 3.03 Approval of Membership Applications. Approval or disapproval of all Membership applications shall be accomplished in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws, by the Board of Directors. Applications approved or disapproved by the Board of Directors may be appealed directly to the membership at the next General Membership, with the decision of the Membership being the final decision of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. on this matter.

Section 3.04 Approval of Expenditures. Except as otherwise provided in the International Association for Identification Constitution and By-Laws, and the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution and any other provisions of these By-Laws, all expenditures of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. shall be subject to the approval of the Board of Directors.

Section 3.05 Awards. The Board of Directors shall review all nominations submitted in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws for any awards of the Utah Division, and the Board of Directors may approve or disapprove any nominee(s) as the Board of Directors deems appropriate in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws. Except as otherwise provided in the By-Laws, no award(s) shall be made to any member without the prior approval of the Board of Directors.

Section 3.06 Hearings. In addition to ordinary business of the Division, the Board of Directors shall be empowered to conduct hearings concerning any Member of the Division upon any charge by another Member, affecting both the charged and the Division's professional reputation, provided the charge is made in writing and an investigation is made into the matter. If so deemed, the charge will be forwarded to the President of the IAI. Reference: Regional I.A.I. Divisions in the IAI Constitution.

Article IV

Election and/or Appointment of the Board of Directors

Section 4.01 Number, Voting Rights, Term, and Qualifications. There shall be a Board of Directors consisting of nine (9) members and a Chairperson, for a total of ten (10) members. Four (4) of the ten (10) members shall be elected at large at the Fall General Membership Meeting. These being the President, the 1st Vice President, the 2nd Vice President, and the Secretary/Treasurer. The Immediate Past President shall be considered an ex-officio member of the Board of Directors. The newly elected President as set forth in these By-Laws, shall serve as the Chairperson and a member of the Board of Directors, and as such shall appoint the remaining Board of Directors positions. As referred to in these By-Laws, if the President is not reasonably available to perform the duties as Chairperson at any Board of Directors Meeting, the 1st Vice President shall serve as the Chairperson for the entire Board of Directors meeting. If the President and 1st Vice President are reasonably unavailable, the meeting shall be reconvened at such a time as one or the other is available to attend. Only the ten (10) members of the Board of Directors, including

the Chairperson shall be entitled to vote on business properly brought before the Board of Directors, with the Chairperson only casting a vote in the event of a tie. The term of office for the ten members of the Board of Directors shall begin from the conclusion of the meeting at which the Annual elections took place and end at the conclusion of the next annual election at which their respective replacements are elected or otherwise assume office. All members of the Board of Directors shall be members in good standing of this Division.

Section 4.02 Election. The President, the 1st Vice President, the 2nd Vice President shall be elected to a one year term. The Secretary/Treasurer shall be elected to a two year term. Nothing shall preclude any member in good standing, except the President, from running for any of the elected offices in consecutive years.

Section 4.03 Vacancies. Any vacancy in the position of Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall be filled in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws. In the event of any other vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors, such vacancy shall be filled with an appointee of the President, and the newly appointed member of the Board of Directors shall hold office for the remainder of the term of the office to which the member was appointed.

Section 4.04 Removal. Any Member of the Board of Directors who does not comply with their assigned responsibilities in a timely manner may be removed from their office or employment by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Any vacancy created on the Board of Directors by removal under this section shall be filled by an appointee of the Board Chairperson, with the approval of the Board of Directors, and the newly appointed person shall fill the unexpired term of office or employment to which the person was appointed.

Section 4.05 Executive Session. The Chairperson or acting Chairperson of the Board of Directors has the authority to declare that all or part of a Board of Directors Meeting is to be conducted as an executive session. During an executive session of the Board of Directors meeting all persons not specifically authorized by

the provisions of these By-Laws or at the direction of the Chairperson or acting Chairperson shall be excluded from the Meeting. Further, the Chairperson or acting Chairperson can exclude, for cause, anyone who is otherwise authorized to attend an executive session of the Board of Directors. Reasonable cause in this situation includes, but is not limited to, a potential conflict of interest or something is to be discussed related to the person excluded. However, if a person otherwise authorized to attend a Board of Directors Meeting is to be excluded requests to remain, that person shall be allowed to remain in the executive session unless the Chairperson or acting Chairperson explains the reasonable cause for the person's exclusion.

Article V

Meetings of the Board of Directors

Section 5.01 Regular Meetings. Regular or special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held at any place consented to orally or in writing by the members of the Board of Directors, except that, a quorum of the Board of Directors and one of the designated Chairpersons are required to be present. No regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without the knowledge and express consent of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.02 Special Meetings. Special Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at the discretion of the Chairperson, or acting Chairperson, of the Board of Directors. Such special meetings of the Board of Directors shall be held at a reasonable place, within the State of Utah, as shall be stated in the notice of the special meeting. No special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without the knowledge and express consent of the Chairperson of the Board of Directors. Further, special meetings may be held via the use of telephones, facsimile machines, video-teleconferencing, computer modem, or any other accepted means of communication as provided.

Section 5.03 Adjournment. A majority of the members of the Board of Directors present, whether or not a quorum is present, may adjourn any Board of Directors meeting. If the Board of Directors meeting is adjourned to another time and/or place, notice of the time and place of holding a reconvening of an adjourned Board of Directors meeting need not be given unless the original Board of Directors meeting is adjourned for more than 24 hours or such Board of Directors meeting was adjourned for lack of a quorum. If the original Board of Directors meeting is adjourned for more than 24 hours and/or due to lack of a quorum, notice of reconvening of such adjourned Board of Directors meeting to another time and/or place shall be given, before the time of reconvening of the adjourned Board of Directors meeting, to the members of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.04 Notice of Board of Directors Meetings.

- (a.) Notice of Regular Board of Directors Meeting to Board of Directors Members . The Chairperson or Secretary/Treasurer of the Board of Directors shall, at least two (2) days before a regular meeting of the Board of Directors, give notice thereof by any usual means of communication to all members of the Board of Directors eligible to vote at the Board of Directors meeting. Such notice shall specify the time, place and purpose for which the meeting is called.
- (b.) Notice of Special Board of Directors Meeting to Board of Directors Members . The Board Chair shall, at least ten (10) days before the special meeting of the Board of Directors, give notice thereof by any usual means of communication to all members of the Board of Directors eligible to vote at the special meeting of the Board of Directors. Such notice shall specify the time, place and purpose for which the special meeting of the Board of Directors is called.
- (c.) Effect of Unlawfully Called Meeting of the Board of Directors . If any meeting of the Board of Directors, which is deemed to have been unlawfully called, is objected to in writing to the Board of Directors Chairperson or Secretary/Treasurer by any member of the Board of Directors who was eligible to vote at such meeting, within

six (6) months of such meeting, all business conducted at such meeting shall be void.

Section 5.05 Waiver of Notice.

- (a.) Express Waiver . Any member of the Board of Directors may waive said member's notice of any Board of Directors meeting held without proper call or notice, either before or after the meeting is held.
- (b.) Implied Waiver by Attendance . Attendance by a member of the Board of Directors at a meeting of the Board of Directors shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a member of the Board of Directors attends the meeting of the Board of Directors for the purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called.
- (c.) Implied Waiver by Silence . Failure of a member of the Board of Directors who did not attend a meeting held without proper call or notice to file with the Secretary/Treasurer or Chairperson of the Board of Directors a written objection to the holding of the meeting of the Board of Directors or to any specific action so taken promptly after having knowledge of the action taken and of the insufficiency of notice shall constitute ratification of the action taken at the meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.06 Attendance at Board of Directors Meetings. Although meetings of the Board of Directors will be closed to the general public and the general membership of the Utah Division of the I.A.I., they will be open to all members of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors Secretary, the Legal Advisor, all past Presidents and current Officers, and anyone given permission by a majority vote of the members of the Board of Directors present during the meeting. Any person lawfully present at a Board of Directors meeting may be heard. However, only the

members of the Board of Directors as defined in these By-Laws may have a vote at the Board of Directors meeting.

Section 5.07 Publication of Activities. The Chairperson of the Board of Directors, or a person designated by the Chairperson, shall be responsible for notifying all members of the Board of Directors, and the Chief Operations Officer of the I.A.I. of the deliberations and actions taken by the Board of Directors.

Section 5.08 Quorum. Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, a minimum of six (6) Directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.09 Manner of Acting. Except as otherwise provided by law or in this section, an act of the majority of the members of the Board of Directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors. Approval of a transaction in which one (1) or more Directors have an adverse interest shall require approval by a majority of the disinterested Directors present.

Section 5.10 Parliamentary Rules. All meetings of the Board of Directors shall be governed by Robert's Rules Of Order: Newly Revised, as such rules may be revised from time to time, insofar as such rules are not inconsistent with or in conflict with the provisions of law, the Constitution or the By-Laws of the I.A.I, or the Constitution or the By-Laws of the Utah Division of the I.A.I.

Section 5.11 Compensation and Reimbursement of Expenses. Members of the Board of Directors shall serve without compensation, but may receive such reimbursement of expenses as the Board of Directors determines by resolution to be just and reasonable.

Section 5.12 Timely Action Required. All Division business referred to the Board of Directors for action which may be reasonably handled by telephone, shall be acted upon within thirty days after being received by the Chair or acting Chair of the Board of Directors. All other Division business not requiring a legal interpretation that is referred to the Board of Directors for action shall be acted upon by the Board of Directors in a timely manner not to exceed 90 days after being received by the Chair or acting Chair of the Board of Directors.

Section 5.13 Administrative Hearings. The Board of Directors shall have the power to conduct a hearing concerning any Member of the Division upon any charge by any other member affecting said Member's professional ethical conduct, provided the charge is made in writing. If, following sufficient investigation by the Board, the accusation against the accused is sustained by a majority vote of all elected Board Members present and voting, the Board shall forward the matter to the Chief Operations Officer of the I.A.I., for his/her review. Then following any recommendations put forth by the Chief Operations Officer, the Board shall have the authority to expel, suspend, censure or admonish such Member, provided that all relevant steps have been taken. Reference: Ethics Committee of the I.A.I. By-Laws of the Constitution.

(a.) Upon the initial receipt, the Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall, at the next convening Board meeting, lay the matter before the Board of Directors for consideration. If the Board of Directors judges that sufficient grounds exist to conduct a hearing upon a charge or charges presented, the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, shall thereupon send a copy of said charge(s) to the accused by certified mail, return receipt requested. The accused shall have thirty (30) days from the date of receipt of such copy to answer the charge(s) in writing. At this time, the accused may request an opportunity to be heard and confront his/her accusers. This request shall be honored at the next regularly scheduled Board of Directors Meeting. If the accused Member fails to file such written answer within the time prescribed in this Section, such failure shall constitute a waiver of the right to a hearing on such charge(s). Said accused Member shall thereupon abide by the action and decision of the Board of Directors and Chief Operations Officer of the I.A.I., in connection therewith, without the right of appeal to the next scheduled

Conference as set forth below.

(b.) If the accused chooses to file a written answer and wishes to appear at the next regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting, then, after due consideration of the evidence at hand, the Board of Directors shall, within sixty (60) days of receiving any recommendations from the Chief Operations Officer of the I.A.I., arrive at a decision, and notify all persons concerned, in writing, of said decision.

After the accused files a written answer, if the judgment of the Board of Directors is adverse to the accused, the accused shall have the right to appeal the decision of said Board to the membership of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. at its next Conference, at which time the findings and order of the Board shall become final, unless the Board is overruled by a vote of two-thirds of the majority of the membership present and voting, during the annual business meeting. All of the above procedures covering the administrative hearing and the appeal process must be completed within a maximum of one (1) year.

In the event that any Utah Division of the I.A.I. Member knowingly makes an official allegation of unethical or unprofessional conduct against another Member, which after sufficient investigation is determined to be false, the matter shall be referred to the I.A.I. Ethics Investigative Committee for unethical conduct. Reference: Ethics Committee of the I.A.I. By-Laws of the Constitution.

Article VI

Elected Officers

Section 6.01 Limitation on Holding Multiple Offices. Unless otherwise provided in the I.A.I. Constitution or By-Laws, or the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution and By-Laws, no member of the association may serve in more than one elected or appointed officer position at the same time.

following Officers shall be elected annually at the last General Membership Meeting of the year, by the voting members of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. eligible to vote therein from a list of candidates eligible for each respective position submitted to the membership, and which is subject to additional nominations from the floor at the General Membership meeting: President, 1st Vice President, 2nd Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer. Only Active members may hold the offices of President, 1st Vice President or 2nd Vice President. However, except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, any member of the Board of Directors is NOT qualified to hold any appointed officer position while the individual is serving as an elected member of the Board of Directors. The term of office for the elected officers shall begin from the end of the meeting of which the Annual elections were held, and end at the conclusion of the meeting after the next annual election at which their respective replacements are elected.

Section 6.03 Removal and Resignation. Any officer elected, or appointed, may be removed for cause using the procedures described elsewhere in these By-Laws. However, all appointed officers serve at the sole pleasure of the President. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of Directors. The resignation shall take effect as of the date the notice is received if no effective date is stated in the notice or at any date specified in the notice and, unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation need not be accepted to be effective.

Section 6.04 Vacancies in Office. A vacancy in any office for any reason shall be filled in the manner prescribed in these By-Laws for regular appointments to that office. Provided however, that if a successor to an office is not otherwise provided for in these By-Laws and if the Board of Directors deems it necessary to fill such vacancy prior to a general membership meeting, the vacancy may be filled by appointment by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors. An officer so appointed shall serve for the remainder of the un-expired term of the office to which the individual is appointed.

Section 6.05 Compensation and Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, the Board of Directors in their sole discretion may compensate

and/or reimburse the officers for any reasonable expenses incurred by them in the performance of their duties.

Section 6.06 President. The President shall be the principal executive officer and shall supervise and control the management of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. in conformance with the Utah Division Constitution and By-Laws. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Division and preserve order and decorum. The President shall carefully supervise the affairs of the Division and labor for usefulness and efficiency. The President shall appoint all standing and special committees as provided for in these By-Laws. The President shall fill, by appointment, all vacancies, including Committee Chairpersons, caused by death, resignation, or other causes, except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws. The President shall represent the Utah Division of the I.A.I. at all functions requiring official representation, unless otherwise delegated by the President.

- (a.) Appointments to be Made. Within thirty (30) days after taking office, the President shall make the following appointments. The President shall appoint those members of the Board which need to be filled.
- (b.) Ex-officio Member . The President shall be an ex-officio Member of the Board of Directors, all Utah Division of the I.A.I. Certification Boards, all Committees, and all Sub-committees and a voting member of the Board of Directors.
- (c.) Presiding Officer. The President shall serve as the Presiding Officer at the General Membership Meetings.
- (d.) Bar to Succession . The President shall not succeed himself or herself in office by being elected to two (2) consecutive terms, except when serving the un-expired term of office of his or her predecessor.

(e.) Educational Conference Expenses Reimbursed . The President shall receive allowance for travel, hotel, and food unless supplied by the local conference committee, while attending the annual Educational Conference of the IAI only if the Utah Division is fiscally able.

Approval of Additional Funds. The President, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors, may seek additional funding to defray expenses incurred in the furtherance of the goals of the Division.

Other Duties . The President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as may be described by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Past President . The President shall be an ex-facto member of the Board of Officers for the year following his/her term of office, and shall have a vote.

Status Report . The President shall make reports to the General Membership of the status of the Division.

Notification of Action. The President be responsible for notifying the Membership, at the General Membership Meeting, of the deliberations and actions taken by the Board of Directors during that President's term of office.

Division Account . The President of the Division shall co-sign all checks drawn on the Division bank account.

Section 6.07 1st Vice President. The 1st Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of that office. For the purposes of this section of these By-Laws, the term "absence" shall be defined as including any situation in which the President is disqualified or otherwise unable to act.

- (a.) Succeeding to Office of President . The 1st Vice President shall automatically succeed to the office of President in the event of the death, disability, resignation or removal from office of the President, and shall serve the un-expired term thereof.
- (b.) Limit On Term of Office. An elected 1st Vice President shall not succeed himself or herself in office, except when serving the un-expired term of office of his or her predecessor, unless he or she never serves as President.
- (c.) Board of Directors Attendance . The 1st Vice President may attend all meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall have a vote.
- (d.) Minutes. The 1st Vice President shall be the recording secretary at all Utah Division of the I.A.I. meetings. The term all Utah Division of the I.A.I. Meetings includes, but is not limited to general membership meetings, educational conferences, seminars, committee meetings, subcommittee meetings, and meetings of the Board of Directors. The 1st Vice President shall keep or cause to be kept, a book of minutes of all Utah Division of the I.A.I. Meetings, and actions of the Board of Directors. All committee and subcommittee meetings may submit minutes as Addendums to the Division Minutes of the 1st Vice President. The minutes of meetings shall include the time and place that the meetings were held, and the names of those present.
- (e.) I.A.I. Chief Operations Manager Copy. The Secretary/Treasurer shall send

copies of the Official Minutes to the I.A.I. Chief Operations Officer as soon as possible after each Division meeting.

- (f.) Division Historian Copy, The Secretary/Treasurer shall send copies of all Official Minutes to the Division Historian for historical record.
- (g.) Other Duties . The 1st Vice President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as may be described by the Board of Directors from time to time.
- (h.) Vacancy . The Office of the 1st Vice President shall automatically be filled by the 2nd Vice President in the event of a vacancy.

Section 6.08 2nd Vice President. The 2nd Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the 1st Vice President and the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of that office. For the purposes of this section of these By-Laws, the term "absence" shall be defined as including any situation in which the 1st Vice President or President is disqualified or otherwise unable to act.

- (a.) Succeeding to Office of 1st Vice President . The 2nd Vice President shall automatically succeed to the office of 1st Vice President in the event of the death, disability, resignation or removal from office of the 1st Vice President, and shall serve the un-expired term thereof.
- (b.) Limit On Term of Office. An elected 2nd Vice President shall not succeed himself or herself in office, except when serving the un-expired term of office of his or her predecessor, unless he or she never serves as President.

(c.) Board of Directors Attendance . The 2nd Vice President may attend all meetings of the Board of Directors, and shall have a vote.
Other Duties . The 2nd Vice President shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as may be described by the Board of Directors from time to time.
Vacancy . The Office of the 2nd Vice President will remain vacant in the event the 2nd Vice President fills the vacancy of the 1st Vice President.
Section 6.09 Secretary/Treasurer. The Secretary/Treasurer shall be the principal recording officer of the Division and the principal financial officer of the Division.
(a.) Roster/Consitution/By-Laws . The Secretary/Treasurer shall keep or cause to be kept a copy of the Current Membership Roster, the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution, and the Utah Division of the I.A.I. By-Laws as amended to date. All such records shall be made available to the Board of Officers and Membership upon demand.
Notices . The Secretary/Treasurer shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings, conferences and seminars as required by these By-Laws.
Board of Directors Attendance . The Secretary/Treasurer shall be a member of the Board of Officers of the Division and shall have a vote.
(d.) Processing Applications . The Secretary/Treasurer shall receive all applications

for membership. The Treasurer shall, after ensuring completeness, and after final approval by the Regional Representative, the members information shall be maintained for recording in the Division Roster. The Secretary/Treasurer shall then deposit the membership dues in the Utah Division of the I.A.I.'s account.

- (e.) Notification of Application Status . The Secretary/Treasurer shall notify all applicants for Active, Life Active, Associate, Life Associate, and Student Memberships of their acceptance or rejection. Upon acceptance, the Secretary/Treasurer shall forward forthwith a certificate of membership and a current annual membership card. If the applicant's membership application is rejected, the applicant's membership fee shall be refunded as quickly as reasonably possible. A non-refundable processing fee may be established by the Board of Directors to cover the cost of processing membership applications that are rejected.
- (f.) Annual Treasurer's Report and Financial Records . The Secretary/Treasurer shall keep and maintain, or cause to be kept and maintained, adequate and correct books and accounts of all I.A.I. transactions, properties, money and other valuables. The Secretary/Treasurer shall present the annual financial statement and the books of account shall be open for inspection at the General Membership meetings.
- (g.) Deposit and Disbursement of Money and Valuables . The Secretary/Treasurer shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, all money and other valuables in the name and to the credit of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. with such depositories as the Board of Directors may designate. The Secretary/Treasurer shall draw and sign all warrants and checks for the expenses of the Division and be a co-signee with the President. In the event of the death, disability, resignation, unavailability or removal of the Secretary/Treasurer, the President shall be authorized to sign any warrant or check.
- (h.) Bookkeeping Procedures. The Secretary/Treasurer will maintain the books in accordance with standard bookkeeping procedures and ought to be a person who is

familiar with it. A Copy of the Annual Audit will be sent to the Historian.
(i.) Voting List. The Secretary/Treasurer shall assist the Sergeant-at-Arms in maintaining a list of current, dues paid members in good standing who may vote and as to which election they may vote.
(j.) Other Duties . The Secretary/Treasurer shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe.
Article VII
Appointed Officers
Section 7.01 Regional Representative. The Regional Representative shall be appointed by the President in conformance with the provisions of this By-Law, and shall act in an advisory capacity, and assist the President and the Board of Directors in all matters pertaining to the welfare of the I.A.I. in the attainment of its objectives and the solicitation of new members. All Regional Representatives shall be members in good standing of both the I.A.I. and the Utah Division of the I.A.I.
Liaison The Regional Representative is the liaison officer between the Division and the I.A.I. parent body organization, and shall facilitate communication between the Division and the parent body. The Regional Representative shall perform these duties as designated by the President of the Division.

Processing Membership Applications . All applications of candidates for

membership in the I.A.I. and the Utah Division of the I.A.I. shall be forwarded to the Utah Division Representative by the I.A.I. Chief Operations Officer in conformance with the provisions of Chief Operations Officer of the I.A.I. By-Laws. It shall be the duty of the Utah Division Representative to make an immediate and through investigation of the applicant's character and qualifications for membership in conformance with the provisions of the Operations Manual. Upon completion of this investigation, the Utah Division Representative shall write approved or disapproved on the application and return the application to the I.A.I. Chief Operations Officer. If the application is disapproved, a brief written explanation of the reason for disapproval should be included. The Utah Regional Representative will keep CONFIDENTIAL FILES of all applicants for the Division. These files will be kept in a secured filing cabinet and be available upon request of the Board of Officers.

Other Duties . The Regional Representative shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe and as a member of the Board of Officers, shall have a vote.

Section 7.02 Sergeant-at-Arms/Parliamentarian. The Sergeant-at-Arms shall be appointed by the President, in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

- (a.) Preserving Order . The Sergeant-At-Arms shall have command of the outer door of the conference hall and Board of Directors Meeting Room, and shall prevent, or cause to be prevent, unauthorized entry as determined by the President or the Board of Directors. The Sergeant-At-Arms shall assist the President in preserving order at all Utah Division of the I.A.I. functions and meetings.
- (b.) Appointing Assistants . The Sergeant-At-Arms, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors may appoint any active member(s) in good standing to assist in carrying out the duties of the office of Sergeant-At-Arms.

- (c.) Flags . The Sergeant-At-Arms shall maintain the flags of the Division and shall be responsible for the presentation of these flags at the Education Conferences. The Sergeant-At-Arms shall be compensated for reasonable expenses incurred in the maintenance and presentation of these flags, as approved by the Board of Directors.
- (d.) Voting Eligibility . The Sergeant-At-Arms shall determine the voting eligibility of delegates at the General Membership Meetings.
- (e.) Other Duties . The Sergeant-At-Arms shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe, and as a member of the Board of Officers, shall have a vote.

Section 7.03 Newsletter Editor. The Newsletter Editor shall be appointed by the President, in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

(a.) Official Journal . The Newsletter Editor shall prepare a newsletter for the Division. The contents and information of the newsletter shall contain, but is not limited to, educational data, methods, training services, divisional meetings, activities, and so on, to keep the General Membership appraised and informed. Also, it shall include the official Minutes of quarterly meetings of the Board of Officers of the Division. Printing, and mailing expenses are to be submitted to the Board of Officers and Treasurer. The Editor shall cause to be published and distributed to all members in good standing one (1) copy of each of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Newsletter. The Editor shall receive all articles and items of interest to the Division, edit them when necessary, and prepare them for inclusion in the Official Utah Division Newsletter. The Editor shall secure such other beneficial publicity for the Division as may be possible.

Membership Roster. The Editor shall publish and distribute to all Members in good standing one (1) copy of an Annual Membership Roster. However, by the mutual agreement of the Editor and Secretary/Treasurer, this task may be delegated to the Secretary/Treasurer or someone acting under the supervision of the Secretary. The Annual Membership Roster shall include a full and correct list of all the members in good standing.

Timely Editions The Newsletter Editor shall see that timely editions of the Division Newsletter are sent out, as income of the Division allows.

Other Duties . The Editor shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe, and as a member of the Board of Officers, shall have a vote.

Section 7.04 Legal Representative. The Legal Representative shall be appointed by the President, in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

Legal Advisor. The Legal Representative shall give prompt legal advice, as necessary, to the Utah Division of the I.A.I. in connection with the administration of the affairs of the Division. All contacts with the Legal Counsel as a legal advisor must be approved in advance by either the President or the Chairperson of the Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws. In the event of a possible conflict of interest on the part of the Legal Representative, the Board of Directors is authorized to appoint one (1) or more legal representatives.

Other Duties. The Legal Counsel shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe, and as a member of the Board of Officers, shall have a vote, except in the event of a possible conflict of interest on the part of the Legal Representative.

Section 7.05 Historian. The Historian shall be appointed by the President, in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

Historical Files . The Historian shall search for, collect, and have custody of all items of historical interest to the Utah Division of the I.A.I. The Historian shall identify and mark each item, acknowledge the donor of each, and maintain an inventory of all materials on hand, and shall advise the membership of new acquisitions and other pertinent matters on an annual basis.

Minutes and Publications . The Historian shall collect and maintain copies of all parent body publications, Division publications, as well as the minutes of the General Membership Meeting and the Board of Directors Meetings.

Library . The Historian shall be responsible for maintaining or causing to be maintained all library materials belonging to the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Such library materials include, but are not limited to, books, professional papers, publications, and audio-visual training aids.

Historical Display . The Historian shall display or cause to be displayed on a special needs basis only items of possible interest which are related to the history of the IAI, Utah Division of the I.A.I. and/or any of the scientific identification professions. The Historian shall maintain a scrapbook of the historical activities of the Division, and shall bring this book to the General Membership Meeting(s). A book of all official Minutes of the Division shall be kept for purview by the Members. The Board of Officers shall authorize expenditures for the scrapbook and binders for the Minutes.

Other Duties . The Historian shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe, and as a member of the Board of Officers,

shall have a vote.

Section 7.06 Webmaster. The Webmaster shall be appointed by the President, in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

(a.) Official Website . The Webmaster shall maintain the website for the Division. The contents and information of the website shall contain, but is not limited to, educational data, methods, training services, divisional meetings, board member contact information, activities, and so on, to keep the General Membership appraised and informed.

(b) Other Duties . The Editor shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe, and as a member of the Board of Officers, shall have a vote.

Article VIII
Committees & Subcommittees

Section 8.01 Committees & Subcommittees Organization. Committees and Subcommittees shall be organized and instituted by the President and with the consent of the Board of Officers, in accordance with the I.A.I. Constitution and By-Laws, and the Utah Division of the I.A.I Constitution and By-Laws.

Composition . All committees and subcommittees shall be instituted as need be and shall contain at least one (1) member of the Board of Officers, who shall act as the Chair of the committee or subcommittee. The committee or subcommittee shall contain as many members of the Division as is deemed necessary by the committee chair, in order to carry out its function. Committees may be formed for, but not

limited to, the following:

Certification Board Committee Standards Committee Publications Committee Publicity Committee Membership Committee Vendors' Liaison Committee

Voting . All the members of the committee, to include the Chairperson, shall have the right to vote at committee meetings.

Reporting All Committees and subcommittees shall be responsible to report to the Board of Officers through their Committee Chair, at each of the Boards meetings, or as otherwise prescribed.

Disbanding of a Committee . All such committees and subcommittees terms shall end with the end of the Presidents term, except with the approval of the incoming President, who shall have the power, with the Boards approval, to appoint or disband the committee as is deemed appropriate.

(e.) Other Duties. The Committee shall perform such other duties as the President and/or Board of Directors shall prescribe.

Section 8.02 Special Committee and Subcommittee Funding. Any funding for any special committee or subcommittee shall be at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors.

Section 8.03 Meetings. All meetings of the committees and subcommittees may be held without prior notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by the committee or subcommittee chairpersons, unless otherwise provided for in these By-Laws.

Section 8.04 Vacancies. Vacancies on any committee or subcommittee shall be filled by the Committee Chair, except the vacancy of the Chair, which shall be filled by the President at his or her discretion.

Section 8.05 Quorum. At all meetings of any committee or subcommittee, a majority of the committee's or subcommittee's members then in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.

Section 8.06 Manner of Acting. The act of a majority of the members of any committee or subcommittee, present at any committee or subcommittee meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the committee or subcommittee.

Section 8.07 Minutes. The committees and subcommittees shall keep regular minutes of their proceedings. Unless otherwise provided in these By-Laws, a copy of the minutes of all proceedings shall be provided to the Secretary/Treasurer.

Section 8.08 Parliamentary Rules. All meetings of I.A.I. Committees and Subcommittees shall be governed by Robert's Rules Of Order: Newly Revised, as such rules may be revised from time to time, insofar as such rules are not inconsistent with or in conflict with the provisions of law, the I.A.I. Constitution and By-Laws, or the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution and By-Laws.

Article IX

Records and Reports

Section 9.01 Maintenance of Records. The I.A.I. shall cause the following records to be kept.

- (a.) Financial Records . Adequate and correct financial records shall be or shall be caused to be kept and maintained by the Secretary/Treasurer in conformance with these By-Laws.
- (b.) Written Minutes . Written minutes of the meetings of the General Membership, Board of Directors, Committees and Subcommittees shall be or shall be caused to be kept and maintained by the Secretary/Treasurer in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

Section 9.02 Annual Treasurer's Report. The Secretary/Treasurer shall present an annual Treasurer's Report at the annual General Membership Meeting following the end of the fiscal year.

Section 9.03 Records on File. The Utah Division of the I.A.I. shall cause to be kept, the original or a copy of, the Constitution as amended to date, the By-Laws as amended to date, a copy of the financial records, minutes of all I.A.I. meetings and a copy of all Division reports.

Section 9.04 Annual Division Report. No later than sixty (60) days prior to the Utah Division of the I.A.I. General Membership Meeting, an annual report of the activities for the previous calendar year shall be submitted in writing by the Division Secretary/Treasurer who shall present said report in total or in summary form at the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Annual General Membership Meeting. This report should include the status of any amendments to the Division's Constitution or By-Laws, any issues the Division desires to have presented to the Board of Directors, the number of members in the Division, the number of Division members who are also members of the I.A.I., a brief summary of all meetings held and scheduled, a list of all Division publications and a brief summary of any other Division activities

Article X

Membership Cards and Certificates

Section 10.01 Form and Issuance. Original annual membership cards and the original initial membership certificate shall be issued to each Member in good standing by the Secretary/Treasurer in conformance with the provisions of these By-Laws.

Section 10.02 Replacements. The Secretary/Treasurer may issue a new membership card and/or certificate in place of any card and/or certificate previously issued if the member named in the card and/or certificate notifies the Secretary/Treasurer that the prior card and/or certificate has been lost, destroyed, or stolen; and asks for a replacement. Also, the Member in good standing must satisfy any other reasonable requirements imposed by the Board of Directors such as a reasonable replacement fee.

Article XI

Dues

Section 11.01 Amount. Effective as of the date of this revision, the annual membership dues shall be fifteen dollars (\$15.00) in United States Currency for Active members, three hundred dollars (\$300.00) in United States Currency for Life Active members, fifteen dollars (\$15.00) in United States Currency for Associate members, three hundred dollars (\$300.00) in United States Currency for Life Associate members, and fifteen dollars (\$15.00) in United States Currency for Student members.

Section 11.02 Payment. Dues paid to the Utah Division of the I.A.I. by any new applicant, or applicant for reinstatement, shall be applied to the dues for that calendar year only. However, dues paid by a new applicant between October 1 and December 31 shall apply to the following calendar year.

Section 11.03 Termination of Member. Any current Member who is delinquent as of March 31st in the payment of dues for the current year is deemed to be not in good standing, shall be subject to suspension from membership and removal of such member's name from the Current Membership Roster (mailing list) of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. An administrative hearing shall not be necessary for this action, unless accompanied by formal ethics violation charges.

Section 11.04 Reinstatement. In the event a member is not in good standing for nonpayment of dues, or has otherwise withdrawn their membership while in good standing, they may be reinstated and restored to their original membership status, including their former member number provided the following: the member pays dues for the current year, and that three years or less has elapsed since the membership was terminated. If more than three years have elapsed, the member must reapply as a new member. For the purposes of this section, any Member who resigns in lieu of responding to allegations of an ethics violations shall be considered to have withdrawn their membership while NOT in good standing and such former Members may reapply for membership only as a new member. Reference: Administrative Hearings of these By-Laws.

Section 11.05 Membership applications received and approved on, or after, the first

working day of June of that year shall be at one-half dues rate of total annual dues of the Utah Division of IAI for that year.

Full Dues Required Full membership dues shall be required for subsequent yearly annual membership dues at the current rate.

First Quarter Rate All application received in January, February, and March of the same year shall be charged at the full annual dues rate as they are over three quarters of the year membership.

First Third Yearly Rate All applications received in April or May of the same year shall be charged at the full annual dues rate as they are over two-thirds of the year membership.

Benefit-of-the-Association All applications received in June are given the benefit-of-the-association by this Division to encourage membership and provide financial relief for public safety and agency employees.

Rights, Privileges, & Benefits Approved membership applicants shall receive all rights, privileges and benefits of the Utah Division of I.A.I. upon approval and acceptance by the issuance of their membership card.

Article XII

Interpretation of By-Laws

Section 12.01 Broad Interpretation. The provisions of these By-Laws shall be interpreted as broadly as lawfully possible to carry out the lawful purposes for which the I.A.I. and the Utah Division of the I.A.I. were formed.

Section 12.02 Limitations on Broad Interpretation. Due to the ambiguous nature of any written language, it may be possible to have more than one interpretation of any given provision of the By-Laws. At all times the provisions of this document shall be construed in a manner that is in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah.

Section 12.03 Conflict. If there is any conflict between the provisions of these By-Laws and the Utah Constitution, the Constitution shall govern. If there is any conflict between the provisions of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. Constitution or By-Laws, and the I.A.I. Constitution or By-Laws, the latter shall govern.

Section 12.04 Effect of Unenforceable or Invalid Provision. Should any of the provisions or portions of these By-Laws be held unenforceable or invalid for any reason, the remaining provisions and portions of these By-Laws shall be unaffected by such holding.

Article XIII Fiscal Year

Section 13.01 Fiscal Year. The fiscal of the Utah Division of the I.A.I. shall run from the election of a Board of Directors, to the following election of the Board of Director

Article XIV

Amendments

Section 14.01 Amendments. Any motion to amend the By-Laws of the Utah Division of the IAI must be approved by a simple majority vote by the members present at a General Membership Meeting, and if approved, the proposed amendment must be published in total in the Utah Division Newsletter or other official publication, but shall then be carried over to the next General Membership Meeting for final passage and adoption by a majority vote.

(a.) Required Vote. Except as otherwise provided herein, these By-Laws shall not be amended or repealed without a majority vote at two (2) consecutive General Membership Meetings.

Publication. At least one (1) month prior to the Annual General Membership meeting in which the adoption of the amendment of these By-Laws will be voted on, the Board Chairperson or Secretary shall have the proposed amendments to the By-Laws published in an official Division publication normally sent to all member in good standing and shall also post the proposed amendments to the By-Laws in the form of a written resolution at the site of the General Membership Meeting.

Section 14.02 Legal Approval of Amendments of the Utah Division By-Laws. All amendments to the Utah Division of the I.A.I. By-Laws shall be submitted to the Utah Division Legal Representative for review. If there are any legal problems with the amendment or amendments the Legal Representative shall attach a written explanation of how to correct the legal problems and return the amendment or amendments to the Board of Directors. Any changes to be made at this time will be included. The amendment or amendments shall be put forth to a vote at two (2) consecutive Utah Division of the I.A.I. General Meetings. Upon approval of the amendment or amendments they shall be submitted to the I.A.I. Chief Operations Officer.

Section 14.03 Effective Date of Amendment. An Amendment to these By-Laws shall become effective immediately only upon being passed at two (2) consecutive General Membership Meetings, and in compliance with the requirements imposed by these By-Laws.

Date Revised: 02/18/09